





British Academy and Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office Innovation Fellowships

Route B Innovation Fellowships Scheme 2025-26

Scheme Notes for Applicants – Route B: Policy-led 2025-26 Competition

Contents

1	Aims of the scheme	3
2	Features of the scheme	
3	Person specification	5
4	Scope of the Fellowships	
5	Working at and with the FCDO	7
6	Value of funding and support provided	9
7	Timetable	9
8	Duration and start of Award	10
9	Reporting	10
10	Applicant eligibility	10
11	Employing organisation eligibility	11
12	Eligible costs	11

13	Non-eligible Costs	12
14	Head of Department Supporting Statement	12
15	Selection Criteria	14
16	Application and Assessment Procedure	15
17	Code of Practice	15
18	Contact Details and Further Information	15

Please read the scheme notes carefully. Any application incorrectly submitted will not be eligible for award.

Applications should be submitted well in advance of the deadline; we recommend at least five days prior to allow for institutional approval.

1 Aims of the scheme

- 1.1 The British Academy has been funded by the Department of Science, Innovation & Technology (DSIT) to support the Innovation Fellowships. The Academy is also working on this scheme in partnership with other partners, including the Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office (FCDO), as per this call.
- 1.2 The Innovation Fellowships scheme will provide funding and support for established early-career and mid-career researchers in the Humanities and Social Sciences to partner with organisations and business in the creative and cultural, public, private and policy sectors, to address challenges that require innovative approaches and solutions. Through the Innovation Fellowships, our researchers in the SHAPE community will be supported to create new and deeper links beyond academia, so enabling knowledge mobilisation and translation, as well as individual skills development.
- 1.3 The Academy is offering up to two 1-year fellowships hosted in the partner's offices. The Academy is able to offer awards of up to £120,000 for 12 months in duration (with Full Economic Costing at 80%).
- 1.4 Applications must be submitted by 1 October 2025, 17.00 (UK time)

2 Features of the scheme

- 2.1 The Innovation Fellowships scheme has two routes: Route A: Researcher-led and Route B: Policy-led. This call is for Route B with the Academy working with the FCDO in relation to the fellowships outlined in 4.2-4.4, and the Cabinet Office in relation to 4.5.
- 2.2 The current scheme guidance notes give details for Route B (Policy-led), and specifically in relation to our partnership with the FCDO.¹ Please note that only one application for this call may be submitted. Applicants are permitted to apply through both Route A (Researcher-led) and Route B (Policy-led), but they cannot be successful via both routes, i.e., hold an Innovation Fellowship for both Route A and Route B at the same time.
- 2.3 All Innovation Fellows under the different routes, regardless of stream or partner, will have the opportunity to participate in cross-learning and other cohort-based activities.

-

¹ In the context of this call, when referring to the Academy's partnership with FCDO, this relates to the Fellowships offered from 4.2 to 4.5, including the Fellowship offered in 4.5, which would be hosted by the National Security Secretariat in the Cabinet Office.

3 Person specification

- 3.1 The British Academy is inviting applications from early-career and midcareer researchers who are working on the themes outlined below who could contribute fresh perspectives to a specified challenge. Applicants might have expertise from a wide range of disciplinary, conceptual and methodological perspectives, including analytical, policy and practical perspectives. You must be an early-career or mid-career researcher based at an institution in the UK (e.g., a Higher Education Institution [HEI] or Independent Research Organisation [IRO]), from disciplines within the Humanities and Social Sciences.
- 3.2 Through the Innovation Fellowship scheme, you will have the opportunity to facilitate a partnership, which will enable you to develop outcomes that transform our understanding of and response to societal challenges, and offer solutions to shape policy and practice. You will be able to draw on the expertise, insights and challenge of policymakers and practitioners, and benefit from their continued engagement through their award. This is an opportunity for all participants to form new collaborations and draw on the insights this brings to inform, influence and develop their future development.
- 3.3 We seek open-mindedness, a willingness to explore new perspectives and to experiment with innovative approaches. You will have an appetite for working across academia, policy and practice, and will demonstrate a commitment to being genuinely challenge driven and dedicated to integrating the perspectives, needs and priorities of the partner. All applicants should strongly consider the potential for engagement between academic and non-academic environments as part of their applications.
- The British Academy and the Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office (FCDO) are aiming to support up to two Innovation Fellowships in this call.
- 3.5 The FCDO has specialised research requirements, operating in a context where timely access to high-quality evidence-based analysis can mean the difference between success and failure. Exerting influence, negotiating and leveraging others' power at precisely the right moment is at a premium. This can make it difficult for researchers operating outside the FCDO to have a significant impact. These Fellowships will provide an opportunity to change that by enabling close interaction with FCDO policymakers directly in the heart of this government department's work.

4 Scope of the Fellowship

- 4.1 The Academy and the FCDO invite applications for Fellowships in any of the following areas.
- 4.2 **Western Balkans:** This Fellowship would be an opportunity to be attached to the Europe Research Group within the Research Analysts Cadre. Working closely with policy makers in the Western Balkans Department and others across the FCDO and wider Whitehall, a Fellowship award holder in this area will utilise their expertise on the Western Balkans to support and inform policy, and deliver a series of analytical products, for example on the latest trends in internal political, economic and security dynamics in the Balkans, the interface between criminality and state actors, the extent to which state actors exploit and leverage local actors, and how this impacts UK and Europe's security interests.
- 4.3 **Serious Organised Crime and Migration:** Serious Organised Crime (SOC) threatens international security and prosperity: it extends and exacerbates conflicts; undermines stability; and inflicts the highest economic cost on the lowest-income countries. This Fellowship would be an opportunity to be attached to the National Security Research Group and to work with analysts and policymakers across the FCDO's geographic directorates. The Fellowship award holder will have deep expertise across the Serious Organised Crime threat landscape, particularly how Organised Crime Groups operate across threat types and borders, and specifically in how migration networks operate, in terms of the drivers of migration and the groups and networks that underpin it.
- 4.4 **Humanitarian Crises:** This Fellowship would be an opportunity to be attached to the Chief Scientific Adviser's Science Cell and have strong links with related research teams and advisory cadres. The Fellowship award holder will help build organisational understanding of how people behave during crises, how to build preparedness and response around this, and how to communicate during crises. The Fellowship award holder would form part of the team stood-up by the Science Cell during emergencies and would support the Science for Emergencies Centre of Expertise (SECE) in commissioning and disseminating key research in this area, as well as providing rapid expertise and advice directly to the CSA and other decision-makers.

4.5 **UK National Security Strategy**: This Fellowship offers the opportunity to work within the Strategy Unit of the National Security Secretariat in the Cabinet Office. The Fellow will collaborate with colleagues in the Strategy Unit to develop thinking and ideas to support the UK's new National Security Strategy. They will work to identify areas where the UK can develop new strategic strengths, for example in cutting edge technology or new international partnerships. The holder will have expertise in national security and at least one of the following areas: international affairs, economics, emerging technology, with ideas for how to advance UK interests in an era of rapid change. The Fellow will also support the team's wider engagement, working across the government's national security community and using their own networks to bring in external expertise to the heart of government.

5 Working at and with the FCDO

- 5.1 These Fellowships will be fully integrated into the FCDO's structure and are placed within a research and/or policy and strategy focussed team in the FCDO: Fellows have a line manager and additional support and mentoring will be provided.²
- Work-planning is a mixture of demand and self-tasking based on evolving FCDO needs. An indicative list of tasks includes: writing papers and shorter notes, oral briefings for senior officials and ministers, meeting external and cross-Whitehall partners, as well as organising and running masterclasses. The Fellows would agree the outline of a work programme with their FCDO line manager and team.
- 5.3 The ability to communicate clearly and succinctly, highlighting policy relevance to non-experts is of importance to all FCDO work. So too is the ability to work collaboratively with others and to do so at pace, sometimes delivering to tight deadlines.
- 5.4 The Fellows will need to agree to respect the FCDO's values and standards of behaviour and sign an agreement to that effect. Failure to do so may result in the termination of the Fellowship.
- 5.5 Fellows will also be obliged to respect the provisions of the Official Secrets Act and observe the duties of propriety and confidentiality during and after the Fellowship period. This means consulting the FCDO before undertaking activities involving: (a) the disclosure of UK Government official information; and (b) the publication or disclosure of material liable to affect the Government's relations with other countries.

-

² As noted above, in the context of this call, reference to the FCDO relates to the Fellowships offered from 4.2 to 4.5, including the Fellowship offered in 4.5, which would be hosted by the National Security Secretariat in the Cabinet Office.

- An FCDO-nominated contact will be responsible for the sensitivity review of all publications prior to their submission for publication. However, the Fellows will not be obliged to make amendments to the content unless publications contain information that it is in breach of the Official Secrets Act (as laid out in the Civil Service Code), or a confidentiality agreement, or which could disclose sensitive, classified and/or personal information, or which could affect the Government's relations with other countries. The terms and conditions of award will include the above.
- 5.7 For security reasons, and in line with FCDO policy, successful applicants have to be security cleared before the offer of a Fellowship can be confirmed. The level of security clearance required for Fellowships 4.2 4.4 is 'Security Check'. The level of clearance required for the Fellowship outlined in 4.5 is only open to UK nationals and is 'Developed Vetting', this would normally need 10 years' UK residency in the past 10 years. Applicants are expected to provide information requested by FCDO in a timely manner. More information can be found here. The start date of the award will depend on successful completion of the security check and signature of the agreement at para 5.6, above.
- 5.8 While UK nationality for 4.2 4.4 is not essential, applicants need to have spent a minimum of two years living in the UK (having a UK bank account or UK address for is not enough).
- 5.9 Note that nationality is not in itself a barrier this includes holding other nationalities alongside British nationality (i.e. dual nationals) but potential applicants with close ties to the country or area on which they would be working, may find there are security limitations that would prevent them from accessing the necessary material thus rendering them unable to fulfil this fellowship.
- 5.10 Loss of clearance during the Fellowship period, for example, due to personal conduct, will risk termination of the secondment. All security clearance decisions are personal to the applicant and depend on a range of factors.

6 Value of funding and support provided

- Awards are offered on a Full Economic Costing (FEC) basis. Applicants must enter the costs in the application form, Financial Details section, at 100% FEC. The maximum that can be claimed is £150,000 at 100%, of which the Academy will pay 80% (i.e. up to £120,000 if the full sum is requested).
- There are three elements to the Full Economic Costing. The Directly Incurred Salary Costs are the costs of the time of the Lead Applicant as this is a Fellowship award. The other elements are Directly Allocated (Estates) Costs and Indirect Costs which cover costing for space, central support services and other necessary costs incurred by the employing institution in supporting the Fellow.
- 6.3 The Academy recognises that the upper limit on the contribution that the Academy's funding can make to this award £120,000 might not be sufficient to cover all of the costs up to 80% of the Full Economic Cost value required. In those cases, an employing institution may need to be willing to make additional contributions to the overhead costs involved.
- All of the grants awarded are expected to be used solely for the purposes specified in the application and agreed in the award-letter.
- The Applicant must commit between 0.6 and 0.8 FTE time to the Fellowship, providing justification for the time percentage as part of the application.

7 Timetable

- 7.1 The deadline for applications to be submitted to this call is **Wednesday 1 October 2025 at 17.00 (UK Time)**. This includes the employing institution approver approving the completed application by the submission deadline. Any applications submitted after that deadline will be ineligible.
- 7.2 The final awards panel will meet after the call for applications are closed. When the Panel meets it will include an interview element as part of its assessment. Applicants are required to be available to attend these interviews as a mandatory part of the assessment process.

8 Duration and start of Award

- 8.1 Awards are for a period of 12 months.
- 8.2 Awards are expected to commence no earlier than 1 January 2026 and no later than 31 March 2026.
- 8.3 The start date of the fellowship award will depend on the successful completion of the security check and signature of the agreement. Applicants are expected to provide information requested by FCDO in a timely manner to enable the fellowship to begin promptly.

9 Reporting

- 9.1 Award holders are required to complete three reports:
 - a) An interim report at the midpoint of the Fellowship reporting on progress and lessons learnt to date.
 - b) A final report from award holders within three months of the award's end, detailing the progress of the activities in which they participated.
 - c) A post-award report three years after the award's end showing the impact of the award on their subsequent career.

10 Applicant eligibility

- 10.1 Eligible applicants must be ordinarily resident in the United Kingdom with a current long-term appointment that will continue for at least as long as the period of the award at a UK-based institution (e.g., a Higher Education Institution [HEI] or Independent Research Organisation [IRO]).
- 10.2 They must also meet the requirements set out above in the 'Working at and with the FCDO' section.
- 10.3 Applications are welcome from early-career researchers and mid-career researchers. Please note that applications from independent researchers cannot be accepted in this round of the scheme.
- 10.4 Applicants may not hold more than one British Academy award of a comparable nature at any one time.
- 10.5 Applicants for the Innovation Fellowships Scheme should be intending to pursue challenges that can benefit from the contribution of Humanities or Social Sciences expertise.
- 10.6 Postgraduate students are <u>not</u> eligible to apply for grant support from the Academy, and Applicants are asked to confirm in the personal details

section(s) that they are not currently working towards a PhD, nor awaiting the outcome of a viva voce examination, nor awaiting the acceptance of any corrections required by the examiners.

11 Employing organisation eligibility

11.1 Applicants must be based in an institution which must be listed as an approving-organisation in the British Academy's grant management system, Flexi-Grant. This institution (e.g., a Higher Education Institution [HEI] or Independent Research Organisation [IRO]) must be based in the United Kingdom and will be issued the Terms and Conditions of the award, if successful.

12 Eligible costs

- 12.1 Innovation Fellowship awards are offered on a Full Economic Costing (FEC) basis. Applicants must enter the costs in the application form, Financial Details section, at 100% FEC. The maximum that can be claimed is £150,000 at 100%, of which the Academy will pay 80% (i.e., up to £120,000 if the full sum is requested). This includes all direct and indirect costs incurred by the employing institution, including space, central support services, and other necessary costs incurred by the employing institution on behalf of the Fellow.
- Funding will be provided on the Full Economic Costing (FEC) basis primarily to cover the salary of the Applicant. The Innovation Fellow will be expected to spend their allocated time of between 0.6 and 0.8 FTE working with the FCDO in their office and/or other mutually agreed sites.
- 12.3 Eligible costs will be funded under the following headings:
 - a) Directly incurred salary costs. This is a Fellowship award paying for the time of the person appointed as the Innovation Fellow. Therefore, the cost for the time of the Lead Applicant should be submitted as Directly Incurred Salary Costs. The award can be used to support the employing institution's salary costs of the Lead Applicant for the duration of the award at between 0.6 and 0.8 FTE. It is expected that the majority of funding requested will cover the Lead Applicant's salary costs.
 - Estates and indirect costs. The award can include the employing institution's estate and indirect costs incurred as a result of direct staff costs.

13 Non-eligible Costs

- 13.1 The following items are **not eligible** for funding (applicants registered with special needs may consult the Academy about possible exceptions prior to application):
 - a) directly allocated salary costs: No directly allocated costs can be attributed to this award;
 - b) purchasing of assets;
 - c) equipment costs;
 - d) computer hardware including laptops, electronic notebooks, digital cameras, etc;
 - e) books and other permanent resources;
 - f) the preparation of camera-ready copy, copy-editing, proof-reading, indexing, nor any other editorial task;
 - g) subventions for direct production costs (printing, binding, distribution, marketing etc);
 - h) costs of publication in electronic media;
 - i) carbon offsetting;
 - j) open access fees.

14 Head of Department Supporting Statement

- 14.1 The following items are **not eligible** for funding (applicants registered with special needs may consult the Academy about possible exceptions prior to application): Applicants are required to obtain a statement of support from their Head of Department as part of this application.
- The Head of Department should be the person who heads the Department, Faculty, Institute or other unit of an Independent Research Organisation (IRO) in which you are currently working. As Head of Department, they will be expected to comment their level of support for the application and on the career development benefit to be gained by the Applicant if the award is made. They will be expected to also confirm that the Applicant will be released from duties at the employing institution for the duration of the award and be able to return to the employing institution once the award ends.

Please note that the Head of Department statement must be received before you can formally submit the application for approval, and you are strongly advised to ensure that your Head of Department submits the statement well in advance of the formal applicant deadline for this round of competition as noted above.

- 14.3 If the Applicant is also Head of Department, the statement must be provided by another suitable individual, e.g., Deputy Head or Head of School.
- 14.4 Heads of Department must be invited to contribute to your application via the Flexi-Grant system. Please see further guidance below:
- 14.5 They can be invited through the 'Contributors' tab displayed on the application form summary page. Once they have been invited, they will receive an email notification with instructions on how to contribute.
- 14.6 You can monitor the progress of your participants' activity through this section of the application form, and issue reminders as required. Once the recipient has accepted your invitation, their status will be displayed as 'active'. Upon completion of their section of the application form, their status will be displayed as 'complete'.
- 14.7 Once participants have completed all their sections of the application form, please remind them to select 'Save & Submit' on the application form page or select 'Submit your contribution' on the summary page.
- 14.8 You will not be able to submit your application form until the status of all participants shows as 'complete' in the 'Contributors' tab.

Please also note that an application cannot be submitted until all required contributors have submitted their contribution first. We recommend that supporting participants fulfil their requirements at least 5 working days before the submission deadline to ensure there is sufficient time for organisational approval.

The employing institution approver must approve the completed application by the submission deadline.

15 Selection Criteria

- 15.1 All eligible proposals submitted in response to this call will be assessed by relevant peer reviewers and then considered by a final selection panel, which will conduct **interviews** with a shortlist of applicants.
- 15.2 Applications will be assessed against the following criteria:
 - a) The research expertise of the applicant in their chosen area of interest;
 - b) The experience and interest of the applicant in engaging closely with policy counterparts, and particularly with colleagues in the Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office (or Cabinet Office as appropriate);
 - c) The anticipated benefit and impact on the FCDO's policymaking process (or Cabinet Office as appropriate) and the applicant's future policy engagement ambitions;
 - d) The ability of the applicant to engage orally in their chosen research area of expertise, and particularly to be able to provide policy relevant, clear and succinct oral briefings (will be assessed at interview if applicants are invited to interview);
 - e) Value for money.
- 15.3 Applications will be assessed against the following criteria: All applicants will be notified of the outcome of the application by January 2026 for a start intended to be by no later than April 2026, subject to security clearance and the signing of a loan agreement with the FCDO or the Cabinet Office.
- 15.4 The approving organisation will be asked to give its consent before the award is confirmed.

16 Application and Assessment Procedure

- 16.1 All applicants must register in the British Academy's online <u>Flexi-Grant</u> system to enable the processing and assessment of their application. All applications must be submitted in English.
- All applications will be subject to an eligibility check undertaken by appropriate British Academy staff before being put forward for assessment, and applications that are not completed correctly and on time will not be considered.
- The deadline for submissions and UK institutional approval is 1 October 2025 at 17.00 (UK time). Applicants will not be allowed to make any changes to their applications or submit any additional information after the 1 October deadline.

17 Code of Practice

- 17.1 The Academy has a Code of Practice for assessing research applications, setting out the principles of equity, integrity and confidentiality governing the treatment of all applications for research support. The Code of Practice also covers Data Protection, the Academy's ethics policy and the appeals procedure. The Code of Practice may be viewed on the Academy's website at https://www.thebritishacademy.ac.uk/funding/code-practice.
- 17.2 Feedback is not a feature of the Innovation Fellowships scheme and the Academy is, regretfully, unable to enter correspondence regarding the decisions of the awarding Committee, which are governed by the Code of Practice. Please note that by applying in this scheme, applicants undertake to accept the terms under which applications are assessed.

18 Contact Details and Further Information

18.1 Please contact the team via international@thebritishacademy.ac.uk for further information.